1980

Deseret Company v. JSJ Corp : Brief of Plaintiff-Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This case involves the sale of certain industrial machinery to plaintiff by defendant. The machinery has never functioned properly, and plaintiff brought suit charging breach of express and implied warranties. Plaintiff seeks a return of the money paid for the defective machine, and seeks to have defendant remove the machine from plaintiff's premises.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

On February 19, 1980, the trial court granted defendant's motion to quash service of process for lack of personal jurisdiction over defendant. That order was modified on March 5, 1980, by agreement of the parties.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff seeks a reversal of the trial court's granting of a motion to quash service of process on defendant, and seeks to have the matter remanded for a trial on the merits.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff is a Delaware corporation authorized to do business and doing business in Utah. Defendant is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business in Michigan.

In 1975, representatives of plaintiff, in response to magazine advertising placed by defendant, contacted defendant at its Grand Haven, Michigan, headquarters to inquire about purchasing a certain large, custom-made packaging machine. Defendant sent its general manager, Lee S. Kihnke, to plaintiff's plant in Sandy, Salt Lake County, Utah to pursue the discussion, Affidavit of James C. Loveless, Record on Appeal at 38. The visit was followed by correspondence and telephone calls consisting of the submissions of proposals, quotations of prices, revisions of specifications, etc.

Eventually, those negotiations ripened, and on November 29, 1977, Mr. Kihnke mailed a revised proposal to plaintiff's Sandy office, id. Included was a document called the "Dake Installation Policy," Record at 46, in which defendant agreed to provide "factory trained technicians" to supervise installation of the machine at the Sandy plant.

On February 17, 1978, plaintiff accepted the offer by mailing a check for \$22,861.25 to defendant as a down payment on the machine, the total purchase price of which was \$91,445, Loveless affidavit, Record at 39. Defendant acknowledged receipt of the order, and proposed a July delivery date, Record at 57. Plaintiff sent a truck to Michigan to pick up the machine, and on August 28, 1978, defendant's "factory-trained specialist," Robert Wydeck, arrived in Utah

to supervise the installation, Loveless affidavit, Record at 39. Since that time, however, the machine has never worked properly. In November of 1978, two of the defendant's employees came to Utah, and spent several days trying to repair the machine, but without success, id. at 40. Therefore, plaintiff sought a refund of payments made for the machine, and also sought its removal. When the parties were unable to agree on a remedy, this lawsuit was filed.

ARGUMENT

I.

JURISDICTION OVER DEFENDANT WAS PROPER UNDER UTAH LAW AS IT EXISTED AT THE TIME OF THE RULING BELOW.

A. THIS COURT HAS PERSONAL JURISDICTION OVER DEFENDANT BECAUSE IT CONTRACTED TO PROVIDE SERVICES IN THE STATE OF UTAH.

Utah's long-arm statute, Utah Code Ann. §78-27-24, provides in pertinent part:

Any person . . . whether or not a citizen or resident of this state, who in person or through an agent does any of the following enumerated acts, submits himself . . . to the jurisdiction of the courts of this state as to any claim arising from:

(1) . . .

(2) Contracting to supply services or goods in this state;

Defendant's action falls within this provision of the long-arm statute, and defendant is subject to the in personam jurisdiction of this court because it contracted to provide a "factory trained service technician" to supervise the installation of the machine in Utah which plaintiff purchased from defendant. The installation was clearly a service, and the contract to provide such a

service in Utah places defendant squarely within the ambit of the long-arm statute.

B. THIS COURT HAS PERSONAL JURISDICTION OVER DEFENDANT BECAUSE IT TRANSACTED BUSINESS IN THIS STATE AND CAUSED INJURY WITHIN THE STATE BY BREACH OF WARRANTY.

Utah's long-arm statute also provides that a non-resident submits himself to the jurisdiction of Utah's courts by the transaction of any business within this state, or by the causing of any injury within this state by breach of warranty. Utah Code Ann. §78-27-24.

The words "transaction of business within this state" are defined in Utah Code Ann. §78-27-23 as:

Activities of a nonresident person, his agents, or representatives in this state which affect persons or businesses within the State of Utah.

Under this definition, there is little question that defendant transacted business in the State of Utah by coming here to solicit plaintiff's business, by communicating with plaintiff by telephone and through the mails, by selling plaintiff a machine worth some \$90,000 knowing that it would be used in Utah, and by sending its employees and representatives here to install, service and attempt to repair the machine. Nothing could more directly "affect persons or businesses" within Utah than the malfunctioning of a piece of machinery essential to a Utah business.

Defendant is also subject to the jurisdiction of this court because plaintiff has properly alleged that defendant caused injury by breach of both implied-in-law warranties and the express warranty contained in the contract.

There can be no doubt that Utah's long-arm statute purports to reach the defendant in this case on all three grounds discussed. The question then is whether subjecting this defendant to suit in Utah is consistent with due process, which is satisfied so long as the exercise of jurisdiction "does not offend traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice," International Shoe Co. v. Washington, 326 U.S. 310 (1945).

C. DUE PROCESS IS NOT OFFENDED BY SUBJECTING THIS DEFENDANT TO TRIAL IN UTAH.

To establish the purpose of the long-arm statute, the legislature codified the following language:

It is declared, as a matter of legislative determination, that the public interest demands the state provide its citizens with an effective means of redress against nonresident persons, who through certain significant minimal contacts with this state, incur obligations to citizens entitled to the state's protection. This legislative action is deemed necessary because of technological progress which has substantially increased the flow of commerce between the several states resulting in increased interaction between persons of this state and persons of other states.

Utah Code Ann. §78-27-22 (emphasis added). The preamble to the long-arm statute continues:

The provisions of this act, to ensure maximum protection to citizens of this state, should be applied so as to assert jurisdiction over nonresident defendants to the fullest extent permitted by the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.

Utah Code Ann. §78-27-22. In addressing the application of those provisions, Justice Crockett stated:

We consider it our responsibility to give effect to that objective by extending the jurisdiction of our courts as far as the limitations of fairness

and established law will permit. . . . It is suggested, and there seems to be validity to the idea, that when the activity or conduct out of which the claimed liability arose occurs in the forum state, for example, where the contract was executed, or is to be performed, in whole or in part, or where an alleged tort occurred, courts are generally more disposed to apply the "minimal contacts" test and to find jurisdiction.

Producers Livestock Loan Co. v. Miller, 580 P.2d 603, 605 (Utah 1978) (emphasis added). Justice Crockett added that in order to assert jurisdiction over a party, the defendant must be engaged in substantial activities beyond mere transitory matters

so that it is reasonable and just to assume that he has had the benefit of the protections and advantages of the laws and institutions of the state to the extent that it is within the concept of fairness and due process that he be subjected to the jurisdiction of its courts.

Id. He gave three examples of transitory matters which help define the limitations imposed on long-arm jurisdiction by considerations of due process:

where a person buys stock in a corporation, such as U.S. Steel or General Motors, where the enterprise is located in and carried on in another state; or where a manufacturer advertises and distributes his products for sale through independent dealers or retailers in other states; or where persons who are merely traveling through or vacationing in other states engage in single and transitory transactions for the purpose of normal subsistence and activities. (emphasis added).

Id. That guidance is instructive and shows that this court's jurisdiction over the defendant in this case does not violate notions of due process. In each of the examples given, the unfairness of exercising jurisdiction is obvious. A huge public corporation cannot reasonably restrict the sale of its stock only

to citizens of certain states -- that would violate the "privileges and immunities" clause of the United States Constitution, Art. IV § 2. Nor can it possibly foresee where it might be subject to suit if it could be haled into any forum where an aggrieved stockholder happened to be domiciled. Justice Crockett's distinction has since been recognized by the United States Supreme Court, which stated that a pivotal element in the due process inquiry is whether

the defendant's conduct and connection with the forum State are such that he should reasonably anticipate being haled into Court there.

World-Wide Volkswagen Corp. v. Woodson, 100 S.Ct. 559, 567 (1980).

Similarly, it would be unfair to predicate jurisdiction on the acts of an independent, autonomous distributor over whom a defendant could exercise no control. Finally, subjecting a traveler to the exercise of jurisdiction in any state where he made a small, isolated transaction would leave the traveler at the mercy of unscrupulous merchants who could file bad-faith actions, secure in the knowledge that the small amounts involved would probably force a default. Such a situation would, as a practical matter, so discourage travel as to intolerably burden interstate commerce.

In this action, defendant contracted to perform the contract at issue, at least in part, by coming to Utah and installing and servicing the machine in question. The forum-state activity was more than foreseeable, it was inevitable. There was no place other than Utah that the installed machine could be used, or

where its failure could cause injury. And it is clear that defendant's activity was not transitory but rather substantial. Unlike Justice Crockett's example of an insubstantial contact by a manufacturer who acts only through an independent dealer or retailer in the forum state, defendant here did not have an independent dealer or retailer in Utah through which it dealt with plaintiff, but rather it dealt with plaintiff directly. Its officers and employees came to Utah on numerous occasions and they also communicated directly with plaintiff by telephone and through the mail. Nor was defendant "merely traveling" through the state for the purpose of engaging "in single and transitory transactions for the purpose of normal subsistence and activities." Clearly, defendant's actions went beyond Justice Crockett's examples of insubstantial activity and by so acting defendant has subjected itself to the jurisdiction of this court.

Justice Crockett's opinion in Producers Livestock followed by a month an opinion on in personam jurisdiction by Justice Wilkins, Abbott GM Diesel, Inc. v. Piper Aircraft Corp., 578 P.2d 850 (1978). Justice Crockett's opinion amplified the criteria identified by Justice Wilkins in addressing the due process aspects of personal jurisdiction. Justice Wilkins stated that in order to "infuse full vitality into the mandate by our Legislature to apply the long-arm statute to the fullest extent permitted by the Fourteenth Amendment," 578 P.2d at 854, an inquiry should be made of:

1. The nature and quality of the defendant's acts;

2. Whether defendant is engaged in purposeful, rather than unintentional, acts in order to avail itself of the privileges and protections in Utah; and
3. Any other relevant matters.

The first and third elements are fairly general and somewhat undefined. Presumably, Justice Crockett's discussion in Producers Livestock is an expansion on these elements, and as we have argued, the defendant J.S.J. Corporation in this action falls within these elements for due process purposes. In addition, this defendant also clearly satisfies the second element identified by Justice Wilkins, since the acts in question were purposeful.

The question is not whether defendant's advertising alone was a sufficiently purposeful act to justify haling it into court. The point here is that the sale of a custom-made machine for installation and use exclusively in Utah is without a doubt sufficiently purposeful. Had defendant wished to avoid Utah jurisdiction, it could have declined to send plaintiff the offer to sell. But defendant ought not complain when a forum which it found to be a fair and convenient place to transact a substantial piece of business asks it to appear and defend an action involving that same large and expensive machine. Defendant had a choice, and by consenting to transact business in this forum it thereby submitted itself to jurisdiction of its courts. The motion to dismiss should have been denied.

II.

CONTROLLING UTAH CASE LAW, ANNOUNCED SINCE THE RULING BELOW, REQUIRES THE EXERCISE OF JURISDICTION OVER DEFENDANTS AND A REMAND OF THIS CASE FOR TRIAL ON THE MERITS.

The defendant's motion to quash was granted on February 19, 1980, and amended by stipulation of the parties on March 5. On March 4 and March 6 of 1980, this Court handed down two decisions that dramatically and unmistakably mandated an expansive interpretation of the long-arm statute. Even if plaintiff concedes, arguendo and contrary to the fact, that the trial court's decision in this case correctly reflected then-prevalent Utah law, it is apparent that the subsequent decisions require a contrary result, since the facts of this case fall squarely within the ambit of those cases.*

In the first of those cases, Burt Drilling, Inc. v. Portadrill, 608 P.2d 244 (Utah 1980), the facts were strikingly similar to the present case. There, a Utah firm initiated contact with a California manufacturer of drilling equipment. The defendant delivered the equipment to Denver, Colorado, from where the plaintiff took it to a job site in New Mexico. When the equipment began malfunctioning,

*

The fact that the trial court's decision was rendered prior to these cases does not, of course, prevent this Court from applying the new law to this appeal.

It is the general rule that when there is a change of law by judicial decision between the time of trial and the time of appeal the appellate court will dispose of the case according to the law prevailing at the time of the appellate disposition and not according to the law prevailing at the time of rendition of the judgment appealed.

Arnold v. Knettle, 10 Ariz. App. 509, 460 P.2d 45, 47 (1969).

the defendant sent repair crews to the New Mexico site. Subsequently, plaintiff, for the first time, transported the machine into Utah, where it again malfunctioned on a job despite further repair efforts by one of the defendant's employees. In the ensuing litigation, jurisdiction over the defendant was predicated on the long-arm statute. The trial court granted a motion to quash, holding the contacts between the manufacturer and the Utah purchaser insufficient to support the exercise of personal jurisdiction.

On appeal, this Court reversed and remanded to trial. This Court conceded at the outset that the defendant was not "doing business" within the State of Utah, and noted that there was no evidence that the defendant had ever sold any other product to any other Utah resident. However, this Court then observed that the long-arm statute is meant to govern those situations in which the non-resident defendant is not doing business within Utah, and that it "pertains to jurisdiction over persons concerning claims against them arising from certain 'minimum contacts' between those persons and this State." 608 P.2d at 246. That statute, then, was held to reach the facts of the Burt case, so long as the exercise of jurisdiction would be constitutional.

In that regard, the opinion articulated the following standard:

Due process requires that defendant's contacts with this State be purposeful on the part of the defendant so that it can be said that the defendant reasonably knew that he submitted himself to this jurisdiction to answer for any harm caused by him

Id. (emphasis added). In applying that standard to the Burt facts, the Court said:

Here, the allegations of plaintiffs' complaint show that their claims arise out of defendant's contacts with this State, which were: (1) defendant purposefully contracted with a resident of this State, knowing that it was a resident, and (2) defendant purposefully undertook to supply goods to that resident reasonably knowing or anticipating that those goods would be used in this State Further, the allegations of the complaint are that part of the injury caused by the defective goods was sustained here. Defendant, therefore has had sufficient contacts with this State to meet the provisions of [the long-arm statute].

Id. at 247 (emphasis added).

Thus, the Court said, it was proper for Utah to exercise jurisdiction over the defendant, even though the Utah plaintiff initiated the contact, even though the machinery was delivered to Colorado and used in New Mexico, and even though only a part of the injury occurred in Utah. Under the Burt tests, knowingly supplying equipment to a Utahn for use in Utah would sustain jurisdiction. In the present case, defendant must concede that those tests are satisfied.

In his concurrence, Justice Stewart distinguished Burt from previous cases involving items that would normally be used in the locality where they were purchased.* He noted that while it

* Specifically, Justice Stewart discussed Pelligrini v. Sachs & Sons, 522 P.2d 704 (Utah 1974), in which a Utah immigrant sought to sue a California automobile dealer for injuries sustained in Utah as a result of alleged mechanical defects. She purchased the car while still a California domiciliary. The defendant in that case had no control over where the purchaser might take the car, and Justice Stewart noted that the dealer was not engaged in an interstate business - he sold cars only in California. In Burt and in the present case, however, the defendants actively solicited interstate business, and knew that the particular products involved were to be used in Utah.

would be unfair to subject the vendor to the jurisdiction of a forum to which "the vendor had no reasonable expectation that his products might be transported," he concluded that a manufacturer of industrial goods stands in a different position. He said:

Large nationwide or multistate businesses, which make great efforts to sell their products to as broad a population as possible, purposefully make use of the free channels of commerce and should be held accountable for legal actions arising out of their use of the nation's channels of commerce.

608 P.2d at 256.

The facts here argue more compellingly than did those of Burt for the exercise of jurisdiction. There, the equipment, though bulky, was portable; the mere fact of foreseeable use in Utah was an adequate factual basis for jurisdiction. Here, the large machine involved was installed on the plaintiff's premises by the defendant. Use in Utah was far more than foreseeable; there was no other possible place in which the machine could be used.

In the second relevant case, Mallory Engineering, Inc. v. Brown, No. 15530 and 15544 (Utah, March 6, 1980), this Court sustained a trial court's denial of a motion to quash service made by a non-resident defendant. Again, the case involved the furnishing of an allegedly defective product for use in Utah. This Court adverted to the evolutionary aspect of Utah decisions, and it reiterated the Burt criteria for applicability of the long-arm statute: the purposeful act of manufacture and sale of an item where its use in Utah is foreseeable. Id., slip op. at 3. This was true despite the fact that the defendant had no office,

property or agents in Utah, nor did it advertise within the State. Under the Burt test, these once-dispositive factors became irrelevant. Id.

The Mallory opinion then considered whether subjecting the defendant to Utah's jurisdiction comported with due process, and concluded that the question involved balancing the inconvenience to the defendant against the interests of the state in assuming jurisdiction. The Court's observation is worth quoting at some length:

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