1980

Deseret Company v. JSJ Corp : Brief of Defendant-Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

The concurring opinion of Justice Stewart in Burt Drilling, Inc., supra, sustained the decision that Pacific Hydro was amenable to jurisdiction only on the long-arm basis of "causing any injury within this State whether tortious or by breach of warranty". This he did because in precedential long-arm jurisdiction cases involving causes of action based on the transaction

of business within the State, the Supreme Court had "found the necessary significant minimal contacts on the basis of more than a single act performed within the State". In the instant case, Respondent submits that it has not transacted any business in this State giving rise to this cause of action, much less does it have a multiplicity of acts within this State as required by Utah decisional law.

B. Appellant's Cause of Action Does Not Arise
Out of Respondent's Contracting to
Supply Services in the State

Appellant did not plead Respondent's contracting to supply services in the State as a basis for jurisdiction and therefore this basis of long-arm jurisdiction should not be relied upon on appeal. But even assuming, arguendo, that the Court may consider this ground of jurisdiction, it is not appropriate under the facts of this case.

In its brief, Appellant asserts that:

[Respondent's] actions fall within this provision of the Long-Arm Statute, [contracting to supply services or goods in this State]. . . because it contracted to provide a factory trained service technician to supervise the installation of the machine in Utah which plaintiff purchased from defendant. The installation was plainly a service and the contract to provide such a service in Utah places defendant squarely within the ambit of the Long-Arm Statute.

(Brief of Appellant at 3-4). As noted in Appellant's Statement of Facts, the "Dake Installation Policy" was a separate document, independent of the contract proposal to sell and manufacture

the machinery which is in issue herein. Even if the installation policy is considered a contract for services in the State, Appellant's Complaint does not allege any breach of the installation contract, or warranties related thereto, or any defective or negligent installation. Rather, Appellant seeks to rescind the contract for sale and manufacture of the machinery and recover its money paid thereon based on Respondent's alleged breach of the contract by providing defective machinery or by breaching implied warranties of sale and manufacture.

In the recent case of Roskelley & Co. v. Lerco, Inc., No. 15987 (Utah, April 11, 1980) this Court reaffirmed its position that in actions brought pursuant to the long-arm Statute the "plaintiff must show that his claim arises out of some contact defendant has with the forum State." The Court declined the invitation to extend this requirement to embrace claims sued on which have a "nexus" with, but do not arise out of a defendant's activities within the forum or claims which have a "close relationship" with the non-resident defendant's jurisdictional activities. (Slip Opinion at 13-14).

Respondent submits that in the instant case just as in Roskelley, supra, "it does not here assist the plaintiff to show the contacts the defendant has with the forum if the specific litigation at bar does not arise out of any of those contacts". (Slip. Opinion at 5).

In Roskelly, supra, the cause of action was based on an alleged contract for commissions on the sale of certain equipment ultimately to a Utah corporation. The Court found that though the defendant's contacts with the State in being present to oversee the installation of the equipment may be sufficient for jurisdiction if the litigation involved an action for breach of warranty or negligence in installing the equipment, the plaintiff could not avail himself of such contacts for the purpose of his claim on an entirely different contract. Likewise, in the case at bar, Appellant's claim is based on an entirely different contract (manufacture and sale) than the one which resulted in Respondent's contact with the forum (installation), or at best a completely separate phase and aspect of the same contract, and such contact is thus not available to Appellant to support a claim of jurisdiction in this action.

C. Respondent Did Not Contract
To Provide Goods in Utah

This basis of long-arm jurisdiction also was not alleged in Appellant's Complaint and is not properly before the Court. But even assuming, arguendo, that consideration is appropriate Appellant has not specifically relied on this basis of jurisdiction and the facts do not warrant its application.

As is discussed in the Statement of Facts, Appellant and Respondent entered a contract negotiated by mail and telephone which contract was accepted by Respondent and therefore

consummated at Respondent's place of business in Michigan, as per the contract provisions. Thus, the contracting to supply goods did not occur in Utah. Moreover, the contract did not call for the supplying of goods in Utah. Rather, Respondent was to manufacture the machinery in Michigan and hold the machinery there for pickup by Appellant. Thus, the goods were supplied to the Appellant in Michigan. Moreover, Appellant does not appear to claim jurisdiction based on contracting to supply goods in the State. Rather, Appellant bases its claim for jurisdiction on Respondent's contracting to provide services in the State of Utah, apparently acknowledging that there must be some activity within the State for long-arm jurisdiction to obtain.

Just as in the case of long-arm jurisdiction based on the transaction of business in the State, Justice Stewart in Burt Drilling Corp., supra, summarized Utah precedent as requiring more than a single act performed in the State in order to satisfy the necessary significant minimal contacts necessary to invoke jurisdiction in causes of action arising out of the contracting to supply services or goods in the State.

In the instant case Respondent submits that it has not contracted to supply goods in Utah nor done any act, much less several acts in contracting to supply goods, in the State as required by Utah decisional law.

D. Respondent Did Not Cause Injury
Within this State Whether Tortious
Or by Breach of Warranty

Again, this provision of the long-arm statute is not invoked by Appellant's Complaint and cannot be relied on by Appellant here. In any event, this basis of jurisdiction is not supported by the facts.

Appellant's Complaint alleges, inter alia, that Respondent "breached the Agreement of Sale by supplying a packaging machine which will not perform the functions for which it was designed and sold to plaintiff in violation of express and implied warranties of sale", and that the machine is "totally defective and inoperative".

Appellant does not recite these charges in support of a product's liability claim, or a claim for damages for breach of warranty. Rather, Appellant makes these allegations to support its theory of breach of contract and its prayer for rescission and restitution.

Respondent submits that this cause of action for rescission and restitution is not a claim for "injury" caused by breach of warranty. Moreover, this Court has recognized that "financial injury" which occurs in Utah to a Utah plaintiff as the result of alleged wrongdoing outside of the State is not a sufficient basis for jurisdiction. See, Hydroswift Corp. v. Louie's Boats and Motors, Inc., 27 Utah 2d 233, 494 P.2d 532 (1972); Burt Drilling Corp., (Stewart J. concurring), supra, at 9. A contrary result would allow assertion of jurisdiction over a

non-resident in any forum in which a plaintiff may locate. Such would clearly be an abuse of long-arm jurisdiction.

Respondent submits that scrutiny of Appellant's Complaint demonstrates that it is not based on "injury within the state by breach of warranty" as that phrase has been construed by Utah Courts. Plaintiff is suing for rescission not for damages. Even assuming plaintiffs' claim could be construed to allege injury, it is clear that such injury would only be financial in nature.

POINT III

ASSERTION OF JURISDICTION OVER RESPONDENT IN THIS CASE WOULD VIOLATE DUE PROCESS

The landmark case of International Shoe Co. v. Washington, 326 U.S. 310, 90 L. Ed. 95, 66 S. Ct. 154 (1945) laid down a new test regarding a State's jurisdiction of nonresidents. That test provided that to obtain in personam jurisdiction of a defendant, the due process clause requires "certain minimum contacts" within the forum and that the maintenance of the suit does not "offend traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice". The Court added that these demands of due process "may be met by such contacts of the corporation with the state of the forum as make it reasonable in the context of our federal system of government to require the corporation to defend the particular suit which is brought there."

The Supreme Court in Hanson v. Denkla, 357 U.S. 235, 2 L. Ed. 2d 1283, 78 S. Ct. 1228 (1958) warned that it is a mistake to assume that International Shoe and its progeny "herald the eventual demise of all restrictions on the personal

jurisdiction of state courts". The Court also stated that the application of the "minimum contacts" rule will vary with the quality and nature of the defendant's activity, but that it is essential in each case "that there be some act by which the defendant purposefully avails itself of the privilege of conducting activities within the forum state, thus, invoking the benefits and protections of its laws." (Emphasis added).

There are numerous cases from other jurisdictions which have held that activities parallel to those in the instant case were insufficient to meet the due process limitations enunciated by the United States Supreme Court. In Saletko v. Willys Motors, Inc., 36 Ill. App. 2d 7, 183 N.E.2d 569 (1962), the plaintiff sued for breach of a foreign corporation's contractual promise to sell and deliver certain auto parts. The Court held that the defendant was not subject to jurisdiction as it never was physically present in Illinois (the forum) and the parts were delivered outside of Illinois to a trucking company (agent of the purchaser) for shipment to the purchaser. Likewise, in Morgan v. Heckle, 171 F. Supp. 482 (D.Ill. 1959), a non-resident seller's motion to quash was granted where the only contacts the seller had with Illinois were that the plaintiff's telephone order was made from Illinois, the goods were shipped c.o.d. to Illinois, and payment was made from Illinois and received in Tennessee. The defendant was never physically present in Illinois and had no agent there.

Due process was held to prohibit assertion of jurisdiction in Chassis-Trak, Inc. v. Federated Purchaser, Inc., 179 F. Supp. 780 (D.N.J. 1960). The case involved a single business transaction in which all pertinent negotiations, including the purchase order were by mail and telephone.

The Court granted the defendant's motion to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction in Old Westbury Golf & Country Club, Inc. v. Mitchell, 44 Misc. 2d 687, 254 N.Y.S.2d 679, aff'd, 219 N.E.2d 868 (1961), where the contract was executed in Ohio and the defendant did nothing in New York (the forum) as regards the plaintiff's cause of action, except deliver the materials involved. In addition, a single conversation had taken place in New York more than a month before the Ohio contract was executed.

In Erlanger Mills, Inc. v. Cohoes Fibre Mills, Inc., 239 F.2d 502 (4th Cir. 1956), the plaintiff placed an order with the defendant, a non-resident manufacturer, which order was accepted at defendant's plant in New York. The goods were sold f.o.b. the seller's plant in New York. After receipt of the shipment, plaintiff complained that the goods were defective. There were several communications between the parties. The defendant's manager went to the forum to discuss the complaint. The court rejected the argument that a single interstate shipment and the presence of the defendant in the state to discuss the claim constituted minimum contacts.

The defendant in AMCO Transworld, Inc. v. M/V Bambi, 257 F. Supp. 215 (D.Tex. 1966), a French corporation, accepted purchase orders in France, mailed notice of acceptance to the plaintiff, shipped the goods to Texas, and received payment by issuing drafts drawn on a Texas bank. The defendant's commercial director had made two trips to Texas prior to the execution of this contract and solicited business there without achieving the consummation of the contracts within the state. The Court held that these activities did not satisfy the minimum contacts test.

In the present case, Appellant saw an advertisement of the Respondent's. That advertisement was not specifically directed to Appellant or Utah, but rather appeared in a trade journal. The specific relationship between the parties was initiated by Appellant when its employee contacted Respondent by telephone. In response to Appellant's inquiry, Respondent's employee came to Utah. No contract was consummated in Utah and nothing came of this visit. Appellant purchased the machine it was then seeking from another company. Clearly, plaintiff's subsequent purchase of a different machine and its resulting alleged cause of action did not arise from the Respondent's trip to the forum.

The contract which is the basis of this lawsuit was without doubt initiated by Appellant when it sent samples and specifications to Respondent and requested a bid. At this time

it is interesting to note that Appellant's employee who had originally seen Respondent's advertisement and who suggested that Respondent manufacture the first machine, had left the company. Communications by telephone and mail resulted in the consummation of the contract finally in Michigan. Respondent performed the contract at issue in this case in Michigan, inasmuch as the machinery was manufactured there and was sold and turned over to Appellant there. Appellants then had a truck take the machinery to Utah. Respondent's installation of the machinery in Utah, as discussed above, does not involve a contact with Utah pertinent to this litigation. Respondent's other trips to Utah in response to Appellant's claim that the machinery was defective, to make adjustments and hopefully resolve or settle the matter, are not available to Appellant to show contacts with the State as Appellant's cause of action does not arise out of such contacts. A contrary result, allowing contacts which occur after the alleged cause of action has arisen, made in an effort to work the situation out, to be used by Appellant to support its claim of jurisdiction is clearly not contemplated by the long-arm statute.

Appellant's claim arises out of the isolated sale and manufacture of machinery which was ultimately located in Utah. The record clearly indicates that Respondent was not qualified to do business in Utah, does not maintain offices, factories, warehouses or other places of business in Utah, has no telephone

listing, bank accounts, inventory, books of account, facilities or other files, real or personal property in the state.

Appellant suggests that recent decisions announced by this Court require the exercise of jurisdiction of the Respondent in this case. Respondent submits that these cases are distinguishable from the instant case and that the principles enunciated therein demonstrate that a finding of jurisdiction in this case would violate due process.

Burt Drilling, Inc., supra, differs from the present case in that the record there clearly indicated that the defendant was a nationwide, multistate business and consequently should reasonably expect to be required to defend suits in foreign forums. Appellant cannot rely on this argument in the instant case as there is nothing in the record that treats this beyond the fact of some trade journal advertising in late 1974 or early 1975. Moreover, in Burt Drilling, Inc., supra, the Court made reference to the fact that the defendant had a security interest in the machinery located in Utah, thereby invoking the protection of Utah law. Consequently, the Court felt it would be fair to require the defendant to be subject to jurisdiction in Utah. There is no evidence in this case that Respondent had such a security interest. Finally, the plurality holding in Burt Drilling, Inc., supra, was that the defendant was subject to jurisdiction on the basis of causing injury in the State. The injury in that case consisted of the fact that the equipment failed to operate properly causing

plaintiff to lose drilling contracts, and resulting in loss of some of the machinery parts which fell into a well casing and could not be removed. Justice Stewart characterized the injury as tortious injury in the State and distinguished it from the financial injury in the State alleged in Hydro-Swift Corp. v. Louie's Boats & Motors, Inc., and which allegedly exists in the present case, which was held to be insufficient contact with the State to satisfy due process.

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